
 

 

 
 

2016 MAR VISTA AVENUE 
 

ALTADENA 
 
 
Previous Address: 2160 Mar Vista Avenue (1915-1941) 
 
Style: Craftsman/Mission Revival 
 
Year Completed: 1915 
 
Cost To Build: $15,000--a very large sum in 1915. 
 
Original Building Permit: Los Angeles County did not begin issuing building permits until 
1927, so there is no documentation of construction in the public record.   On May 13, 1915 the 
Pasadena Daily News announced that Dr. Waterman was contemplating the construction of a 
home on the property he had just purchased.  In June 1915 The Southwest Builder & Contractor  
described the house as follows: “Plaster over metal lath, 11 rooms, 4 baths, 106 by 105 feet, clay 
tile roof, cement porches; pine, oak and maple floors; brick and tile mantels, tile bathroom floors 
and wainscots, floor furnaces, automatic water heaters, and garage.”  Please see the copies of 
these articles attached on pages 15 and 16. 
 
Architect: The Architectural Designing Company, Los Angeles.  Please see the history of this 
relatively short-lived firm attached on pages 7 through 11.   
 
Builder: Edward D. Wyman, Los Angeles. 
 
First Owners: Dr. William W. Waterman, a physician from New York City, and his wife 
Evelyn B. Waterman. They shared the home with their four children.  
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William Whitney Waterman (1874- 1940), who went by his middle name Whitney, was born in 
Detroit, Michigan, the son of William James Waterman, a lawyer, and Ella (Howard) Waterman.  
In 1893 William attended the Michigan Military Academy.  He graduated from the University of 
Michigan with a B.A. in 1897 and, while a student, played on their baseball team.  He then went 
on to earn his medical degree from the College of Physicians and Surgeons at Columbia 
University in 1904.  
 
In 1895, in Georgia, Dr. Waterman married the former Evelyn (“Eva”) Burbank Hartley (1861-
1933), born in St. Paul, Minnesota, the daughter of James Crawford Burbank, the president of a 
life insurance company, and Evelyn Sophia (Delano) Burbank.  The younger Evelyn was married 
previously and had lived in France for ten years where her child Gladys Hartley (1891-1976) was 
born. Evelyn met Dr. Waterman in London.  After the Waterman marriage, Gladys lived with her 
mother and new stepfather in America.  Dr. and Mrs. Waterman would have three children of 
their own: William Whitney. Jr. (1897-1996); Crawford Burbank (1898-1937); and Evelyn 
Burbank (1900-1976). William Jr., as an adult, lived with his parents and worked as a bacterial 
entomologist.   
 
By 1900, the Waterman family was living in Greenwich, Connecticut where Dr. Waterman 
worked as an “expert chemist.” Several years later he was practicing medicine in New York 
City, specializing in children’s diseases.  He was said to be one of the first doctors to prescribe 
pasteurized milk for babies. Dr. Waterman held appointments in the department of surgery and 
general medicine at Vanderbilt Clinic, the Roosevelt Hospital, and the Harlem Hospital, all in 
New York City.  He is said to have been the personal physician to the Vanderbilt family when 
practicing at the Vanderbilt Clinic.  In 1909, he and his wife moved to Pasadena where he 
resumed his pediatric practice.  It is thought that the Vanderbilt family financed the construction 
of the Watermans’ Altadena residence as a tribute to Dr. Waterman. During World War I,  
Dr. Waterman served in the Volunteer Medical Service Corps.  He was a member of the 
American Medical Association, the New York State Medical Society, and the Annandale Golf 
Club.   
 
Two years after his wife’s death at the age of 72, Dr. Waterman married Antoinette Beauchamp 
(1897-1978), a native of France. They lived for a number of years in Santa Monica. 
 
Dr. William Waterman passed away at the age of 66 in San Gabriel and is interred at the Cavalry 
Cemetery in East Los Angeles.  Please see the biographical articles on Dr. Waterman attached on 
page 12 through 14. 
 
Assessor's Records: The oldest building record in the Los Angeles County Assessor’s district 
office for this property dates back only to September 16, 1955.  The Assessor recorded a single 
two-story residence with a concrete foundation, wood-frame and stucco walls, and a hipped, 
gabled tile roof.  Heating was provided by two fireplaces and four gravity furnaces.  (The 
Assessor noted that, at some unknown date in the past, these had replaced the original twelve 
floor furnaces.  In 1955, two of the gravity furnaces were replaced by a Holland forced-air air-
conditioning system.)  There were twenty plumbing fixtures.  Inside finishes were of plaster, 
gumwood, and cedar.  Some bookcases were built-in.   
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The Assessor estimated the square footage at 5,501.  The first floor contained four living rooms 
(one was probably a dining room), four bedrooms, four bathrooms, and a kitchen.  On the second 
floor were one bedroom and one bathroom.  There were nine hardwood floors throughout.  There 
was also a crawl-space that was three feet deep. 
 
The Assessor reported that in 1992 the kitchen was remodeled and its floor and that of a 
bedroom were replaced.   
 
The County Assessor currently estimates the square footage of the house at 5,010 with four 
bedrooms and five bathrooms. 
 
Please see the copies of the Assessor’s records attached on pages 21 through 24.    
 
Other Owners and Residents: In 1929, Effie Frances Cowie, the widow of the vice-president of 
American Railway Express, purchased the property.  Upon her death in 1940, a “deluxe auction” 
was held to sell off her estate.  Please see the copy of the newspaper advertisement attached on 
page 17.   
 
Between 1940 and 1942 Homer Harrison Leach, his wife Elinor Leach, and their three sons were 
the residents.  Mr. Leach sold cooking stoves. 
 
Julius J. and Catherine A. Smith had gained title to the property by 1942.  Mr. Smith was a 
salesman for a hardwood company. Mr. and Mrs. Smith shared their home with their four 
children. 
 
The Smiths were followed in 1947 by Anthony Paul Straub, Jr. and his wife Ione P. Straub of 
Chicago.  They were associated with the Evergreen Sanitarium in Temple City. 
 
By 1955, the owner was Virginia Garlett, the widow of William R. Garlett. Mrs. Garlett ran the 
Altadena Guest Home at the Mar Vista address.   
 
Daniel M. Asimus, a psychiatrist, was the owner of 2016 Mar Vista by 1981.   
 
Linda Ru, an independent graphic designer, purchased the property in 1987. 
 
Jean E. Esminger, a social science professor at Caltech, is the current owner. She purchased the 
property in 2000.  
 
Notes:  Attached on page 6 is part of the page of a 1949 Sanborn Fire Insurance map that shows 
a footprint of the house. 
 
From the late 1940s into the 1970s the house was identified as the Altadena Guest Home, a 
group home for elderly residents.  
 
The International Guiding Eyes sponsored a home-tour in Altadena in 1987 which featured the 
Waterman House.  A docent script from that tour is attached on page 18.   
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In 1994 the property was one of the stops on the “Craftsman Holiday Fantasy Historic Home 
Tour” sponsored by Altadena Heritage.  Publicity from that tour is attached on page 20. 
 
Significance: In its historical and architectural resources survey of the community undertaken in 
the early 1990s, Altadena Heritage determined that this property is potentially eligible for listing 
on a local inventory of significant properties due to its fine design, wonderful state of 
preservation, and its association with a nationally-known original owner.  A photograph of the 
house taken ca. 1990 by Altadena Heritage can be found on page 19.
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Sources:   
 Altadena Heritage 
 Altadena Historical Society 
 Los Angeles County Assessor (Archives and South El Monte district office) 
 Los Angeles Public Library 
 City of Pasadena, Planning Dept., Design & Historic Preservation Section (Archives) 

Pasadena Public Library (Centennial Room) 
Pasadena Museum of History (Library & Archives) 

           
Gebhard, David and Robert Winter.  An Architectural Guidebook to Los Angeles, 6th ed.

 Santa Monica, Angel City Press, 2018. 
 McAlester, Virginia Savage.  A Field Guide to American Houses.  2nd ed. 
  New York, Knopf, 2013. 

Who’s Who in the Pacific Southwest, 1913. 
           

City Directories: 1915- 
 
 Los Angeles Times: October 13, 1935; December 11, 1940 

Pasadena Daily News: May 13, 1915 
 Pasadena Evening Post: January 28, 1940 

Pasadena Star-News: November 17, 1994 
 Southwest Builder & Contractor: May 27, 1915; June 3, 1915 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tim Gregory 
The Building Biographer 
400 East California Blvd., #3 
Pasadena, CA  91106-3763 
626-792-7465 
timgregory@sbcglobal.net 
www.buildingbiographer.com   
 
Copyright  
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THE ARCHITECTURAL DESIGNING COMPANY 
 
Little is known about the history and eventual fate of the Architectural Designing Company.   
A relatively short-lived design firm headquartered in Los Angeles, it was significant not only for 
the quality of its work but for the fact that it was for a few years managed by a woman–an almost 
unheard-of arrangement in the first decades of the 20th century.   
 
The Architectural Designing Company first appeared in Los Angeles city directories around 
1910, located at 124 West 6th Street (the Grosse Building), Room 624.  William James Kitts was 
identified as the manager at that time.  Mr. Kitts (1878-1940) emigrated with his family from 
Ontario, Canada in 1886.  His father was an English-born shoemaker.  By 1895, William was in 
Los Angeles, working as a shoe salesman. He later entered the jewelry manufacturing business.  
By 1907, he had his own realty and development firm.  As a young man, Mr. Kitts was a well-
known, handsome sportsman and “man about town” who got into a number of financial scrapes.  
He would evidently enter into agreements to build houses and then would leave them unfinished 
as he used clients’ money to start construction on even more houses. An attached 1907 article 
from the Los Angeles Times describes in detail Mr. Kitts’ financial troubles.   
 
In the 1908 phone book Mr. Kitts was identified as a “draftsman” and by 1909 was being called 
an “architect,” although it is unknown if he had any formal training in design.  By 1916, the 
Architectural Designing Company was under the management of Miss Cora Adele Lane who 
lived at 1432 Maltman in Los Angeles. Miss Lane (1886-1955) was born in Idaho.  By 1910, 
working as a stenographer, she was a lodger in the home of Mr. Kitts and his first wife Alice.  In 
1917 she married Mr. Kitts. (The 1907 newspaper article on Mr. Kitts’ escapades, mentioned 
above, talks about a Miss Bertha Lane who may have actually been Cora or a relative.)   
 
Working with Cora Lane at the Architectural Designing Company was Frank L. Bedell (1870-
1932), a native of Iowa who resided at 1000 Wilde.  He had been associated with the 
Architectural Designing Company since 1909.  Strangely, he was identified over the years in 
directories not only as the firm’s president but also as a motorman on a streetcar line.  It is 
probable that none of the principals in the firm did much architectural work themselves but 
employed a staff of designers and draftsmen.   
 
When the Architectural Designing Company went out of business around 1920, having survived 
only ten years, Cora Kitts apparently left the design/construction field.   She had divorced her 
husband by 1930.  After leaving the Architectural Designing firm Mr. Kitts worked as a self-
employed architectural draftsman. Later in life, he was employed as an investment broker and 
also worked in the lending and mortgage fields. No obituaries could be found for Mr. Kitts and 
Mrs. Kitts or for Mr. Bedell in the Los Angeles Times.    
 
The Architectural Designing Company received commissions from throughout Southern 
California, including Santa Barbara, Pomona, San Pedro, Hollywood and Los Angeles itself.  A 
number of fine residences in Pasadena were designed by the company.  Among the first was the 
Hopkins residence at 3060 San Pasqual Street (1910).  Others that followed included the Baird 
house (552 North Oakland Avenue–1910); the Kay residence (979 Atchison Street–1910); the 
Miller house (416 South Madison Avenue–1910–now demolished); the Fogg residence (189 
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North Los Robles Avenue–1911–also now gone); two residences for the Black family, both in 
1911 (464 Maylin Street and 310 Congress Street); the Hall residence (1050 North Los Robles 
Avenue–1912); and the Rice house (1270 North Hudson Avenue–1915).  Also in 1915, the 
Architectural Designing Company created what many consider to be a landmark in Craftsman 
design in Altadena–the Waterman house at 2016 Mar Vista Avenue, designed for the personal 
physician of the Vanderbilt family.  Another house ascribed to the company in Altadena is at 
1231 New York Drive (1911).  The firm also designed and built at least five apartment buildings 
in Los Angeles between 1916 and 1917.   
 
 
Sources: 
Los Angeles Times:  July 4, 1907 
Southwest Builder and Contractor: March 31, 1910 
 
Internet Resources, including California Index, California Death Index,  

Gale Biography Master Index, Ancestry.com, and Historic Los Angeles Times 
Database. 

 
 
 
 
 
Tim Gregory 
The Building Biographer 
400 East California Blvd., #3 
Pasadena, CA  91106-3763 
 626-792-7465 
timgregory@sbcglobal.net 
www.buildingbiographer.com   
 
Copyright  September 2017 
by Tim Gregory 
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Los Angeles Times 
July 4, 1907; p. II 1 
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Who’s Who in the Pacific Southwest (1913) 
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Los Angeles Times 
October 13, 1935; p. 52 
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Los Angeles Times 
December 11, 1940; p.19 
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Southwest Builder and Contractor 
June 3, 1915 
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International Guiding Eye tour script (1987) 
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